ELSEVIER

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Power Sources



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jpowsour

# A review: Hydrogen generation from borohydride hydrolysis reaction

# B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li\*

College of Materials Science and Chemical Engineering, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310027, PR China

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 October 2008 Received in revised form 9 November 2008 Accepted 10 November 2008 Available online 18 November 2008

Keywords: Sodium borohydride Hydrogen generation Catalyst Kinetics Hydrolysis Borate

# ABSTRACT

In this review, a convenient hydrogen generation technology based on sodium borohydride and water as hydrogen carriers has been summarized. The recent progresses in the development of the hydrogen generation from sodium borohydride hydrolysis are reviewed. The NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis behavior is discussed in detail. From reported results, it is considered that hydrogen generation from sodium borohydride hydrolysis is a feasible technology to supply hydrogen for the PEMFC. It has been found that the reported results are encouraging although there are some engineering problems that lie ahead. The critical issues of this hydrogen generation technology have been highlighted and discussed.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	527
2.	BH₄ <sup>−</sup> hydrolysis reaction	528
3.	Catalyst for BH <sub>4</sub> - hydrolysis	530
	3.1. Homogeneous catalyst	530
	3.2. Heterogeneous catalyst	530
4.	Catalyst support technology	531
5.	Hydrogen generation system	531
6.	Other borohydrides	532
7.	Challenges and recommendations	532
	7.1. Catalyst durability	532
	7.2. Mist elimination	532
	7.3. Crystallization of borates	532
	7.4. Thermal management	533
	7.5. NaBH₄ production cost	533
	Acknowledgements	533
	References	533

# 1. Introduction

It is known that hydrogen is a clean energy carrier. Hydrogen releases energy with high efficiency through electro-oxidation reaction in a fuel cell to generate only product: water. Hydrogen can be stored in the form of molecular hydrogen in pressurized vessels [1-3], liquefied hydrogen tanks [4,5] and carbon materials [4-12]. It also can be stored in the form of atomic hydrogen in metal hydrides (MH) [13] or in the form of hydride ion in protide compounds such as alanetes  $(MAlH_4)$  [14–17] and borohydrides  $(MBH_4)$  [18–23]. Metal hydrides generate hydrogen by thermal decomposition and they are considered reproducible in reversible manners. However, their hydrogen capacities are lower than protide compounds as shown in Table 1 [24]. Some Mg-based alloys have higher hydrogen capacities, but the high temperature requirement for releasing hydrogen limits their practical uses as hydrogen storage materials. High air sensitivity is another issue of these compounds.

Sodium borohydride (NaBH<sub>4</sub>) is one of the borohydrides. It is stable in dry air, and is easily handled like common chemicals compared with other hydrogen storage materials. Generating  $H_2$ 

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 571 87951977; fax: +86 571 87953149. *E-mail address:* zhoupengli@zju.edu.cn (Z.P. Li).

<sup>0378-7753/\$ –</sup> see front matter @ 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2008.11.032

Communican of buildenan	and a situation of all	hard mid a a a a d	muchide come		D 41
Comparison of hydrogen	cabacity in metal	involtioes and	prolide com	DOUNUS	241.

	Metal hydride					Protide compou	nd	
Typical metal hydride	AB5H6 LaNi5H6	$\begin{array}{l} AB_2H_4\\ ZrMn_2H_{3.46}\end{array}$	ABH <sub>2</sub> TiFeH <sub>1.9</sub>	$\begin{array}{l} A_2BH_4\\ Mg_2NiH_4 \end{array}$	AH <sub>x</sub> MgH <sub>2</sub>	M <sup>I</sup> AlH4 NaAlH4	M <sup>1</sup> BH4 LiBH4 NaBH4	$\begin{array}{l} M^{   }(BH_4)_3\\ Al(BH_4)_3 \end{array}$
H-capacity (wt.%)	1.4	1.7	1.8	3.6	7.6	7.4	18.4 10.6	16.8

catalytically from NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions has many advantages: NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions are nonflammable; reaction products are environmentally benign; rate of H<sub>2</sub> generation is easily controlled; the reaction product NaBO<sub>2</sub> can be recycled; H<sub>2</sub> can be generated even at low temperatures. The theoretical hydrogen amount released is 10.8 wt.% by NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction and half of hydrogen is from H<sub>2</sub>O. The  $\Delta H^{\circ}$  values of reactions (1), (4) and (5) were calculated from the standard enthalpy of formation (298.15 K) [106]:

$$NaBH_4 + 2H_2O \rightarrow 4H_2 + NaBO_2,$$
  

$$\Delta H^{\circ} = -216.7 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1} NaBH_4$$
(1)

Furthermore, the gravimetric capacity of NaBH<sub>4</sub> is higher than that of metal hydrides and the volumetric capacity of NaBH<sub>4</sub> is higher than that of compressed and liquefied hydrogen. For a power generation system based on the proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC) using hydrogen as the fuel from NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis, some water from the PEMFC can be reused for NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis. Then, the total reaction can be described as:

$$NaBH_4 + O_2 = NaBO_2 + 2H_2O$$
(2)

Due to these merits mentioned above, hydrogen generation from  $NaBH_4$  hydrolysis has attracted many attentions. The application feasibility of  $NaBH_4$  as the hydrogen generation resource has been studied [25–28]. Wee et al. [29] introduced and discussed some research achievements on the use of  $H_2$  generated via the NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction for PEMFCs.

In this review, NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis behavior is summarized in details. Recent progresses in the development of hydrogen generation technology from NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis are reviewed. The critical issues of this emerging hydrogen generation technology have been highlighted and discussed.

#### 2. BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis reaction

Early in the 1950s, Schlesinger et al. [18] suggested using NaBH<sub>4</sub> to generate hydrogen at ambient conditions. It was reported that NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution released 90% of the stoichiometric amount of hydrogen from the hydrolysis reaction. Through isotope analysis of deuterium (D), Pecsok investigated the BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis behavior catalyzed by H<sup>+</sup> [30]. It was found that BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> would react with H<sup>+</sup> to form a transient of BH<sub>5</sub>. BH<sub>5</sub> would split into BH<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>. Then BH<sub>3</sub> would react with H<sub>2</sub>O to form H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> as shown in





$$2M + BH_4^{-} \rightleftharpoons H - B - H^{-} + \begin{vmatrix} H & H \\ H & H \\ M & M \end{vmatrix}$$

$$MBH_{3}^{-} \rightleftharpoons BH_{3} + M + e_{M}^{-}$$

$$BH_{3} + OD^{-} \rightarrow BH_{3}OD^{-}$$

$$M + e_{M}^{-} + D_{2}O \rightarrow M - D + OD^{-}$$

$$M - H + M - D \rightarrow 2M + HD$$

Fig. 2. Schematic  $BH_4^-$  hydrolysis behavior when catalyzed by metallic catalysts [26].

Fig. 1. The BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis reaction could be described as:

$$BH_4^- + H^+ + 3H_2O \to H_3BO_3 + 4H_2$$
(3)

Hydrogen generation rate was proportional to the concentration of  $BH_4^-$  and pH value of the  $BH_4^-$  solution. Keçeli and Özkar suggested using a highly active homogeneous catalyst:  $Ru(acac)_3$  as the catalyst for NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis. The  $Ru(acac)_3$  catalyzed hydrolysis of NaBH<sub>4</sub> was first order with respect to both catalyst and NaBH<sub>4</sub> [31].

Kaufman and Sen investigated the BH<sub>4</sub>- hydrolysis behavior catalyzed by heterogeneous catalysts: Co, Ni (or Raney Ni) [26]. It was found that the disassociative adsorption of BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> ion would occur on the catalyst M (M = Co, Ni) as shown in Fig. 2. Metallic catalyst would transfer electrons to the molecular H<sub>2</sub>O to generate hydrogen. The effect of these transition metals was characterized by zero-order kinetics. Associative desorption of absorbed hydrogen was another path of hydrogen generation. The transient of BH<sub>3</sub>OH<sup>-</sup> would stepwisely reacted with OH<sup>-</sup> to form hydrogen and B(OH)<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>. A nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy-monitored experiment proved the existence of the (BH<sub>3</sub>OH)<sup>-</sup> anion as an individual species in solutions [32]. Edwards et al. found that meta-borate ion existed in the form of  $B(OH)_4^-$  not  $BO_2^-$  in aqueous solutions [33]. Metin and Özkar studied the nickel(0) nanocluster-catalyzed hydrolysis of NaBH<sub>4</sub> with low concentration [35]. It was found that BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis followed first-order reaction in catalyst concentration and zero order in NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration. The hydrogenphosphate-stabilized nickel(0) nanoclusters provided a lower activation energy than bulk nickel for the hydrolysis of NaBH<sub>4</sub>. Guella et al. conducted detailed kinetic analyses of the Pt catalyzed NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis in alkaline media by <sup>11</sup>B NMR [36]. The reaction kinetics was found to be of first-order in catalyst and zero order in borohydride. Based on Langmuir-Hinshelwood model, a unified kinetic model was suggested [37]. The results indicated that the reaction consisted of two important steps: the adsorption of BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> on the surface of the catalyst and the reaction of the adsorbed species on the catalyst surface.

Ingersoll et al. investigated the influence of NaOH concentration in NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions on the hydrogen generation rate when using nickel-cobalt-boride (Ni-Co-B) as the catalyst [38]. The hydrogen generation rate increased for lower NaOH concentrations in the alkaline NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution then decreased after reaching a maximum at 15 wt.% of NaOH. The hydrogen generation rate was found to be



Fig. 3. Influence of NaBH $_4$  concentration on the hydrogen generation capacity based on stoichiometric calculation from NaBH $_4$  hydrolysis reaction.

constant with respect to the concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub>. Zhang et al. studied the kinetics of catalytic hydrolysis of alkaline BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> solutions for a Ni-metal supported catalyst over a temperature range from 0 to 30 °C and a NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration range from 1.34 to 5.44 M [39]. It was reported that BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis reaction rate was dependent upon concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub>, NaOH and H<sub>2</sub>O. The intrinsic kinetics model revealed the importance of water management for operation of a NaBH<sub>4</sub>-based system for hydrogen storage and generation.

The concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub> should be as high as possible in order to improve the fuel energy density. However, when the NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration was high enough, hydrated borates as the reaction product would precipitate from the solution, which would block the active sites of the catalysts and bring about the complexity of solution transportation. On the other hand, H<sub>2</sub>O reactivity would influence the hydrolysis reaction mechanism as H<sub>2</sub>O was another hydrogen source for the BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis. Theoretically speaking, with decreasing the water content in the reaction system, following hydrolysis reactions would occur:

$$NaBH_4 + 6H_2O \rightarrow 4H_2 + NaBO_2 \cdot 4H_2O(orNaB(OH)_4 \cdot 2H_2O) \downarrow,$$
  

$$\Delta H^{\circ} = -272.4 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}NaBH_4$$
(4)

 $NaBH_4 + 4H_2O \rightarrow 4H_2 + NaBO_2 \cdot 2H_2O(orNaB(OH)_4) \downarrow,$ 

$$\Delta H^{\circ} = -250.1 \,\mathrm{kJ} \,\mathrm{mol}^{-1} \mathrm{NaBH}_4 \tag{5}$$

Fig. 3 shows the influence of NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration (or  $H_2O$  addition amount) on the hydrogen generation capacity based on the stoichiometric calculation of reactions of (1), (4) and (5). Table 2 lists the phase compositions after NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction corresponding to the initial NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration. Shang and Chen reported that not only NaOH concentration, NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration but also the byproduct (sodium meta-borate) would influence the hydrogen generation rate when using concentrated alkaline NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions. The hydrolysis of NaBH<sub>4</sub> was first order to the concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub> [40,41].

#### Table 2

The hydrogen generation capacities and phase compositions after NaBH\_4 hydrolysis reaction corresponding to the initial NaBH\_4 solution.

	NaBH <sub>4</sub> concentration (wt.%)	Phase composition	Hydrogen generation capacity (wt.%)
I	0-12.3	L	0-2.6
Π	12.3-25.9	L+NaB(OH) <sub>4</sub> ·2H <sub>2</sub> O	2.6-5.5
III	25.9-34.4	$NaB(OH)_4 \cdot 2H_2O + NaB(OH)_4$	5.5-7.3
IV	34.4-51.2	NaB(OH) <sub>4</sub> + NaBO <sub>2</sub>	7.3-10.8
V	51.2-100	NaBO <sub>2</sub> + NaBH <sub>4</sub>	10.8-0

Table 3Various kinetic studies of H2 gene	eration via NaBH4 hydrolysis reaction.					
NaBH <sub>4</sub> /NaOH concentration	Rate equation	Temperature (° C)	Catalyst		Active energy (kJ mol <sup>-1</sup> )	References
0.001 M/0 M	$-d[BH_4 - 1/dt = k[BH_4 - 1]H^+]$	15-35	Homogeneous catalyst	H+	C	[30]
IVI 0/IVI 61.0	-d[BH4 ]/df = k[BH4 ][Ku]	CD-45	)	Ku(acac) <sub>3</sub>	7.8c	[31]
0.005 M/0 M	$-d[BH_4^-]/dt = k$	22		Co powder	75	[26]
0.005 M/0 M	$-d[BH_4^{-}]/dt = k$	22		Ni powder	71	[26]
0.005 M/0 M	$-d[BH_4^{-}]/dt = k$	22		Raney Ni	65	[26]
0.04-0.2 M/0 M	$-4d[NaBH_4]/dt = d[H_2]/dt = k[Ru]$	25-45		Ru	28.5	[105]
0.1-0.2 M/0.1 M	$-d[BH_4^-]/dt = k_{true}[H_2O][Pt]$	25	Undersonance contributed	Pt/C	45	[36]
0.15 M/0 M	$-4d[NaBH_4]/dt = d[H_2]/dt = k[Ni]$	25-45	nererogeneous cataryst	Ni cluster	54	[35]
1.3 M/3.75 M	$d[H_2]/dt = k_0 \exp(-Ea/RT)$	8–27		Ni-Co-B	62	[38]
5.73 M/1.9 M	$-4d[NaBH_4]/dt = d[H_2]/dt = k$	25-55		Ru/resin	47	[34]
1.34-5.44 M/0.26-1.9 M	$-d[NaBH_4]/dt = k[NaBH_4]^{-0.41}[NaOH]^{0.13}[H_2O]^{0.68}$	0-30		Ni/metal	52	[39]
1.32-5.28 M/0-2.5 M	$d[H_2]/dt = k[BH_4^{-}]/(1 + k_1[NaOH])$	26-60		Ru/C	37.3	[41]

It was reported that the  $BH_4^-$  hydrolysis followed zero-order reaction at low temperatures but the first-order behavior at higher temperatures on carbon-supported Ru catalyst [37]. As pointed out by Moon et al., temperature is a major parameter that affected the solubility of NaBO<sub>2</sub> [42]. If the hydrolysis temperature is over the melting point of NaB(OH)<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O, NaB(OH)<sub>4</sub> would be formed when a NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution with NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentrations from 25.9 to 34.4 wt.% is used for hydrogen generation. However, if the hydrolysis temperature is controlled under the melting point of NaB(OH)<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O, some unreacted NaBH<sub>4</sub> would remain due to the mass transport barrier of formed NaB(OH)<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O phase.

Table 3 summarizes the kinetic studies on the NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction models when using solutions with different concentrations of NaBH<sub>4</sub> for hydrogen generation. From these results, it can be concluded that hydrogen generation follows first-order reaction with respect to both NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration and catalyst concentration when using homogeneous catalysts for BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis. When using heterogeneous catalysts for BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis, zero-order kinetics dominates at low concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub> but first-order kinetics at high concentration of NaBH<sub>4</sub>.

It is known that 1 mole of  $B(OH)_4^-$  will be formed after 1 mole of  $BH_4^-$  is hydrolyzed. It means that 2 moles of free  $H_2O$  are localized by  $BO_2^-$  ions, which results in decreasing  $H_2O$  reactivity. As a result,  $BH_4^-$  hydrolysis would be dominated by the  $H_2O$  diffusion process. Therefore, hydrogen generation rate are dependent upon the NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration and  $H_2O$  concentration if high concentrated NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions are applied for hydrogen generation. However, some results showed that NaBH<sub>4</sub> concentration would influence the hydrogen generation rate even if NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions with low concentrations were used [39,43,44]. Probably, it could be attributed to the applied catalyst and used catalyst amount because both of them would influence the  $BH_4^-$  hydrolysis behavior.

Use of solid NaBH<sub>4</sub> rather than alkaline  $BH_4^-$  solutions was considered to be another way to produce hydrogen with high energy density by increase of the  $H_2O$  utilization. Liu et al. investigated the hydrolysis reaction by starting with solid NaBH<sub>4</sub> and adding less amount of water in an attempt to explore the maximum hydrogen generation capacity [45]. The hydrogen generation capacity could reach up to 7 mass% through reaction (5). Matthews and co-workers studied the steam hydrolysis of NaBH<sub>4</sub>. It was found that hydrated meta-borate: NaB(OH)<sub>4</sub> was produced after hydrogen generation [46]. The hydration degree of the meta-borate was closely tied to the amount of water in the reaction (5). It was reported that unlike the reaction in liquid water, up to 95% yield of hydrogen could be obtained with pure steam without a catalyst [47].

#### 3. Catalyst for BH<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> hydrolysis

#### 3.1. Homogeneous catalyst

Since Schlesinger et al. [18] found that the NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction could be significantly accelerated by addition of acids, few investigations on homogeneous catalysts have been carried out due to the difficulty of the reaction process controlling. Recently, Keçeli and Özkar [31] suggested using ruthenium(III) acetylacetonate as the homogeneous catalyst for NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction [30]. It is considered that use of homogeneous catalyst for NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis is good for continuous hydrogen production but not suitable for the hydrogen supply on demand because NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction usually become uncontrollable due to the difficulty to halt reaction process.

# 3.2. Heterogeneous catalyst

It was known that hydrogen was released only when alkaline NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions passed over the solid catalyst surface, so that the flow rate of the solution over the catalyst could control the rate of hydrogen generation. This allowed hydrogen generation to be matched to hydrogen consumption in the fuel cell. Xia and Chan suggested another controlling manner by which the hydrogen generation can be controlled by inserting or removing the catalyst into/from the solution [72]. Therefore, use of heterogeneous catalysts was considered to be one of the methods to control NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction. It was reported that hydrogen generation rate was easy to be controlled by using heterogeneous catalysts [26]. Cobalt and nickel borides were the most investigated catalysts [18,19,21,22,26,36,48]. Eom et al. studied the cobalt-phosphorous (Co-P) catalysts by electroless deposition. It was found that Co-P catalysts with finer crystalline Co exhibited a higher hydrogen generation rate [49]. Co and Co-P catalysts can be prepared by electroplating on Cu in sulphatebased solution without or with an addition of H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> ions [50].

Dong et al. studied the effect of heat treatment of nickel boride catalyst (Ni<sub>x</sub>B) on the catalysis of NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis reaction. It was found that the Ni<sub>x</sub>B catalyst showed great improvements in catalytic activity and operation stability after heat treatment at 150 °C in vacuum [51]. The Co–B catalyst treated at 500 °C exhibited very good catalytic activity [52].

Suda et al. studied the catalytic properties of some intermetallic compounds such as  $Mg_2Ni$  and its hydride [23,53]. Kim and coworkers developed Ru60Co20Fe20 alloy as the NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis catalyst [54]. Some other alloys of precious metals such as RuM (M = Cu, Pd, Ag, Pt), PtAg were suggested by Demirci and Garin [55]. It was found that alloying Ru with Pt demonstrated the same cat-



Fig. 4. Volume of hydrogen generated as a function of time for the TiO<sub>2</sub>-supported catalysts [55].



Fig. 5. Hydrogen generation with different catalysts in 5 wt.%  $\rm NaBH_4$  (5 wt.%  $\rm NaOH)$  solution [64].

alytic activity as Ru, but alloying with inactive metals like Cu, Pd or Ag deteriorated the performances of Ru as shown in Fig. 4.

In order to improve the catalyst dispersion, carbon-supported catalysts were developed to obtain high catalytic activity. For examples, Ru/C [41] and carbon-supported platinum (Pt/C) catalysts [56–59] exhibited excellent hydrogen generation rates. Carbon-supported Co–B catalysts also can be prepared by impregnation–chemical reduction method [60]. Pena-Alonso et al. suggested using carbon nanotube (CNT)-supported Pt and Pd as the catalysts [61].

It was reported that the hydrogen generation rates when using Pt-LiCoO<sub>2</sub> catalyst were high compared with those using other metal and metal oxide [62]. In a closed pressure vessel, NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis on Pt-LiCoO2 catalyst would drastically increase the pressure owing to the generation of large quantities of hydrogen gas by synergism of hydrogen pressure and the catalyst [63]. Krishnan et al. compared the hydrogen generation kinetics using IRA-400 anion resin dispersed Pt. Ru catalysts and LiCoO<sub>2</sub>-supported Pt. Ru and PtRu catalysts [64]. It was found that the performance of the LiCoO<sub>2</sub>-supported catalysts was better than that of ion-exchange resin dispersed catalysts as shown in Fig. 5. Several synthesis methods of LiCoO<sub>2</sub>-supported catalyst such as microwave-assisted polyol process [65], sintering [66] were suggested. Krishnan et al. [67] found that the catalytic activity of LiCoO<sub>2</sub> was due to the formation of cobalt boride (CoB) by the reduction of LiCoO<sub>2</sub> by NaBH<sub>4</sub>. The performance of  $Co_3O_4$  and  $LiCoO_2$  was comparable to various noble metal catalysts. Liu et al. confirmed that a small percentage of cobalt existed in the metallic form after hydrogen generation by using LiCoO<sub>2</sub>-supported Pt or Ru as the catalyst [66].

It is considered that NaBH<sub>4</sub> is a strong reducing agent. Many metallic catalysts mentioned above can be obtained by adding precursor solution into solid NaBH<sub>4</sub> or NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions. For examples, ruthenium(0) nanoclusters could be prepared from the reduction of RuCl<sub>3</sub>·3H<sub>2</sub>O and stabilized by using acetate ion [68]. Co–B catalyst could be prepared by using different precursors (CoCl<sub>2</sub> and CoSO<sub>4</sub>) [69]. The synthesis methods of Ni<sub>3</sub>B, Co<sub>3</sub>B, and Ru catalysts were also reported [70]. It was reported that the H<sub>2</sub>O amount in precursor solution was very important especially when solid NaBH<sub>4</sub> or NaBH<sub>4</sub> gel was applied for NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis [45,71].

#### 4. Catalyst support technology

It was known that generated hydrogen bubbles through NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis would move catalyst powders all around. Therefore, applied catalysts should keep a certain shape and be fixed in practical uses. Amendola et al. [34] suggested use of the ion-exchange

resin beads as the catalyst support. Yi and co-workers suggested using  $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> as a support material. It was found that Co/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> had quick response and good durability to the hydrolysis of alkaline NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution [73]. It was reported that TiO<sub>2</sub> [55,74,75], solid acid sulphated-zirconia [43,76] and silica [77] could be used as support materials of metal catalysts.

It was considered that using sponge material as a catalyst substrate can effectively decrease the flow resistance of hydrogen stream. Lee and co-workers suggested loading Ni or Co catalyst into Ni foam to make a catalyst sheet using stylene-butadiene-rubber (SBR) as a binding material [78]. An investigation of durability characteristics of a pasted filamentary Ni catalyst was performed and extensive approaches for elucidating the degradation mechanism of the catalyst were undertaken. It was found that agglomeration of catalyst resulted in a reduction of specific surface area. The borate film formed on the catalyst was another reason for deteriorated catalysts [79]. A chemical reduction of Co precursors coated on a Ni foam support was also suggested [80]. It was found that the catalyst showed a maximum activity to hydrogen generation when annealing at approximately 250 °C. Adhesion of the catalyst to the support could be enhanced by heat treatment at 300-400 °C. Dai et al. [81] developed a modified electroless plating method to prepare amorphous Co-B catalyst supported on Ni foam. Compared to the conventional electroless plating method, the suggested method was more effective and the produced Co-B catalyst had higher catalytic activity. The catalytic activity of the supported Co-B catalyst was highly dependent upon the plating times and calcination conditions.

# 5. Hydrogen generation system

Based on the achievements in catalyst development, several hydrogen generation systems have been constructed in different scales. Prosini and Gislon [82] designed a small hydrogen generation system for a fuel cell to power a cellular phone. The device was to satisfy the hydrogen supply on demand at room temperature and pressure as shown in Fig. 6. The hydrogen capacity was as high as 2.5% (w/w). By converting this amount of hydrogen to electricity by a fuel cell working at 0.8 V, it is possible to achieve a system energy density of about 720 W h kg<sup>-1</sup>, four times larger than commercial high energy density lithium-ion batteries.

In portable applications, power generation devices should be placed in all directions without orientation preference. However, when using a liquid fuel to power a fuel cell, a system orientation problem would occur as the fuel supply system has to be placed in some special directions, which would cause inconvenience in use. Gervasio et al. [83] designed an orientation-independent hydrogen



Fig. 6. Hydrogen response measurement of the designed system [82].



Fig. 7. Influence of NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution flow rate on steady-state H<sub>2</sub> generation rate [86].

generator operating at ambient conditions. The hydrogen generator could provide power output of about 10 W, in which a membrane kept liquid in the reactor, but allowed hydrogen gas to pass out of the reactor. Kim et al. built an integrated system of hydrogen generation system using Co-B catalyst supported on nickel foam, and a PEMFC stack. Power output of about 465 W was achieved at a constant loading of 30 A [84]. Patel et al. reported that the maximum H<sub>2</sub> generation rate of about 5 L min<sup>-1</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> of catalyst could be achieved by using thin film Co-B catalyst. The H<sub>2</sub> generation rate could power a PEMFC with output of 0.9kW operating at 0.7V [85]. Kojima et al. developed a hydrogen generator using a Pt-LiCoO<sub>2</sub>-coated honeycomb monolith [86]. The gravimetric and the volumetric H<sub>2</sub> densities of the system reached 2 wt.% and 0.15 kg  $H_2$  m<sup>-3</sup>, respectively. The hydrogen generator successfully provided a maximum H<sub>2</sub> generation rate of 120 NL min<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to 12 kW output for a standard PEMFC operating at 0.7 V as shown in Fig. 7.

 $\rm BH_4^-$  hydrolysis is an exothermic reaction. It was observed that temperature had a significant effect on the rate of reaction during operation [87]. Zhang et al. [88] suggested a hydrogen storage system whose dynamic reactor startup and response characteristics were rather satisfactory at various hydrogen demand conditions. The catalyst reactor was operated without need of fuel preheating. Catalyst durability of more than 700 h was demonstrated. Later, they developed a novel reactor in which catalyst bed was integrated with a heat exchanger for auto thermal operation [89]. Over 200% enhancement in reactor throughput was achieved as shown in Fig. 8.

# 6. Other borohydrides

Besides NaBH<sub>4</sub>, other borohydrides such as LiBH<sub>4</sub>, KBH<sub>4</sub> were attempted to be used for hydrogen generation through hydrolysis



Fig. 8. Reactor performance with and without heat exchange [89].

reaction. It was reported that the gravimetric and the volumetric hydrogen densities peaked at a certain concentration of LiBH<sub>4</sub>. The gravimetric hydrogen density per unit weight of LiBH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O could reach up to 7.4 wt.%, volumetric hydrogen density per unit weight of NaBH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O could reach up to 60 kg H<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-3</sup> [90,91]. Unlike NaBH<sub>4</sub> and LiBH<sub>4</sub>, KBH<sub>4</sub> reacted very slowly with water to release 4 moles of hydrogen per mole of KBH<sub>4</sub> at room temperature [92]. It is considered that KBH<sub>4</sub> is not a suitable hydrogen storage material due to its low gravimetric hydrogen density, slow kinetics and high cost in production compared with NaBH<sub>4</sub>.

## 7. Challenges and recommendations

It has been shown that hydrogen generation system through  $BH_4^-$  hydrolysis is a good candidate to power PEMFC [82–89,93]. However, there are many engineering problems to be solved such as catalyst durability, mist elimination, crystallization of borates, thermal management, NaBH<sub>4</sub> production cost, and so on.

# 7.1. Catalyst durability

It is known that agglomeration of catalyst particles, surface oxidation of catalyst and catalyst component dissolution in alkaline NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions are common reasons for catalysis deterioration of a catalyst. In practical uses, support failure of the catalyst support usually is a main reason to the catalyst deterioration. It is noted that hydrogen gas is generated in liquid solutions. Hydrogen bubbles would expanse their volumes in very high speed during hydrogen evolution. The higher the hydrogen generation rate, the higher the volume expansion rate of hydrogen bubbles. Then, a powerful shock on catalyst support would occur when a high hydrogen generation rate is required. Though use of porous materials as the support material [78–81] can effectively decrease the damage from this kind shock, how to avoid catalyst erosion caused by the flushing of the NaBH<sub>4</sub> solution is another key point to improve catalyst durability.

## 7.2. Mist elimination

In principle, hydrogen generated from borohydride hydrolysis should be pure as hydrogen is the only gas product. However, when hydrogen is generated from a borohydride solution, some mist of the solution would bring out with the generated hydrogen. The mist contains solution components such as NaBO<sub>2</sub>, NaBH<sub>4</sub>, NaOH and H<sub>2</sub>O. It is not easy to be eliminated completely through a simple gas–liquid separation especially when hydrogen is produced at high rates and at high temperatures. It is afraid that these alkaline impurities in hydrogen would accumulate in the anode side of the PEMFC and result in performance degradation because the PEMFC works in an acidic medium. However, very few attentions on the mist elimination have been paid. It is considered that mist elimination is one of the most critical problems in development of hydrogen generation technology from NaBH<sub>4</sub> hydrolysis.

#### 7.3. Crystallization of borates

Crystallization of borates after hydrogen generation limits the use of high concentrated NaBH<sub>4</sub> solutions for hydrogen generation because borate crystallization would consume H<sub>2</sub>O to form hydrated borates. Precipitation of hydrated borates on catalysts and in pipelines of the system would result in decrease of hydrogen generation rate especially when using heterogeneous catalysts. Sometimes, it would damage the structure of catalyst support and block the hydrogen flow in the pipelines. Use of homogeneous catalysts can avoid the catalyst damage, but how to control the hydrolysis reaction is still a problem to be solved. For a power generation system based on PEMFC using hydrogen as the fuel from  $NaBH_4$  hydrolysis, use of water from the PEMFC may be one of the solutions to increase the system energy density though the water management in the PEMFC is also a big challenge.

#### 7.4. Thermal management

 $\rm BH_4^-$  hydrolysis is an exothermic reaction. It is important to control the reaction temperature in the hydrogen generation system because the mist emission and borate crystallization are deeply influenced by the reaction temperature. Lower reaction temperature is favorable to depression of mist emission, but results in lower H<sub>2</sub>O utilization due to the formation of NaB(OH)<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O. Higher reaction temperature can improve the H<sub>2</sub>O utilization but aggravate the mist emission. Therefore, the thermal management is a very important technology in the hydrogen generation system.

#### 7.5. NaBH<sub>4</sub> production cost

Hydrogen from borohydride hydrolysis can be supply to the PEMFC on demand to power mobile electronic devices such as mobile phones, laptop computers, and so on. The integrated system of the hydrogen generator and the fuel cell is also a potential candidate to drive a vehicle such as car and boat. It is especially suitable to marine vehicles because half of hydrogen can be obtained from water conveniently. However, current production cost of NaBH<sub>4</sub> is too high to be used as a hydrogen carrier in civil applications. It is considered that meta-borate recycle is a key point to lower NaBH<sub>4</sub> production cost. Even though several fundamental researches on NaBH<sub>4</sub> synthesis technologies have been reported such as ballmilling synthesis [94–96] and thermal synthesis [97–104], more efforts should be paid to the development of new NaBH<sub>4</sub> synthesis processes.

#### Acknowledgements

This work is financially supported by Hi-tech Research and Development Program of China (863), grant nos. 2006AA05Z120, 2007AA05Z144, Doctoral fund (20070335003) and the Scientific Research Foundation for the Returned Overseas Chinese Scholars from Education Ministry of China, and Fund from Science & Technology Ministry of Zhejiang province (2007R10029).

#### References

- [1] J.M. Ogden, T.G. Kreutz, M.M. Steinbugler, Fuel Cells Bull. 3 (2000) 5-13.
- [2] S.M. Aceves, G.D. Berry, G.D. Rambach, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 23 (1998) 583-591.
- [3] S.M. Aceves, J. Martinez-Frias, O. Garcia-Villazana, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 25 (2000) 1075–1085.
- [4] A.C. Dillon, K.M. Jones, T.A. Bekkedahl, C.H. Kiang, D.S. Bethune, M.J. Heben, Nature 386 (1997) 377–379.
- [5] K. Pehr, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 21 (1996) 387-395.
- [6] R. Chahine, T.K. Bose, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 19 (1994) 161-164.
- [7] S. Hynek, W. Fuller, J. Bentley, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 22 (1997) 601-610.
- [8] C. Liu, Y.Y. Fan, M. Liu, H.T. Cong, H.M. Cheng, M.S. Dresselhaus, Science 266 (1999) 1127–1129.
- [9] Y. Ye, C.C. Ahn, C. Witham, B. Fultz, J. Liu, A.G. Rinzler, D. Colbert, K.A. Smith, R.E. Smalley, Appl. Phys. Lett. 74 (1999) 2307–2309.
- [10] A. Chambers, C. Park, R.T.K. Baker, N.M. Rodriguez, J. Phys. Chem. B 102 (1998) 4253–4256.
- [11] C.C. Ahn, Y. Ye, B.V. Ratnakumar, C. Witham, R.C. Bowman Jr., B. Fultz, Appl. Phys. Lett. 73 (1998) 3378–3380.
- [12] M. Kunowsky, B. Weinberger, F. Lamari Darkrim, F. Suárez-García, D. Cazorla-Amorós, A. Linares-Solano, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 33 (2008) 3091–3095.
- [13] T. Tamura, Y. Tominaga, K. Matumoto, T. Fuda, T. Kuriiwa, A. Kamegawa, H. Takamura, M. Okada, J. Alloys Compd. 330–332 (2002) 522–525.
- [14] B. Bogdanovic, M. Schwickardi, J. Alloys Compd. 253/254 (1997) 1-9.
- [15] C.M. Jensen, R. Zidan, N. Mariels, A. Hee, C. Hagen, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 24 (1999) 461–465.
- [16] R.A. Zidan, S. Takara, A.G. Hee, C.M. Jensen, J. Alloys Compd. 285 (1999) 119–122.

- [17] K.J. Gross, G.J. Thomas, C.M. Jensen, J. Alloys Compd. 330–332 (2002) 683–690.
   [18] H.I. Schlesinger, H.C. Brown, A.B. Finholt, J.R. Gilbreath, H.R. Hockstra, E.K.
- Hydo, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75 (1953) 215–219. [19] A. Levy, J.B. Brown, C.J. Lyons, Ind. Eng. Chem. 52 (1960) 211–214.
- [19] A. Levy, J.B. Brown, C.J. Lyons, Ind. Eng. Chem. 52 (1960) 211–214
   [20] H.C. Brown, C.A. Brown, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 84 (1962) 1493–1494.
- [21] J.A. Gardiner, J.W. Collat, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 87 (1962) 1692–1700.
- [22] K.A. Holbrook, P.J. Twist, J. Chem. Soc. A (1971) 890–894.
- [23] S. Suda, Y.-M. Sun, B.-H. Liu, Y. Zhou, S. Morimitsu, K. Arai, N. Tsukamoto, M.
- Uchida, Y. Candra, Z.-P. Li, Appl. Phys. A 72 (2001) 209–212. [24] Z.P. Li, B.H. Liu, K. Arai, N. Morigazaki, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd. 356/357 (2003) 469–474.
- [25] M.M. Krccvoy, R.W. Jacobson, Ventron Alembic 15 (1979) 2–3.
- [26] C.M. Kaufman, B. Sen, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1985) 307–313.
- [27] V.C.Y. Kong, F.R. Foulkes, D.W. Kirk, J.T. Hinatsu, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 24 (1999) 665–675.
- [28] S.C. Amendola, S.L. Sharp-Goldman, M. Saleem Janjua, N.C. Spencer, M.T. Kelly, P.J. Petillo, M. Binder, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 25 (2000) 969–975.
- [29] J.H. Wee, K.Y. Lee, S.H. Kim, Fuel Process. Technol. 87 (2006) 811-819.
- [30] R.B. Pecsok, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75 (1953) 2862–2864.
- [31] E. Keçeli, S. Özkar, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 286 (2008) 87-91.
- [32] T. Ruman, A. Kusnierz, A. Jurkiewicz, A. Les, W. Rode, Inorg. Chem. Commun. 10 (2007) 1074–1078.
- [33] J.O. Edwards, G.C. Morrison, V.F. Ross, J.W. Schultz, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77 (1955) 266–268.
- [34] S.C. Amendola, S.L. Sharp-Goldman, M.S. Janjua, M.T. Kelly, P.J. Petillo, M. Binder, J. Power Sources 85 (2000) 186–189.
- [35] Ö. Metin, S. Özkar, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (2007) 1707-1715.
- [36] G. Guella, B. Patton, A. Miotello, J. Phys. Chem. C 111 (50) (2007) 18744–18750.
   [37] J.S. Zhang, W.N. Delgass, T.S. Fisher, J.P. Gore, J. Power Sources 164 (2007) 772–781
- [38] J.C. Ingersoll, N. Mani, J.C. Thenmozhiyal, A. Muthaiah, J. Power Sources 173 (2007) 450–457.
- [39] Q. Zhang, Y. Wu, X. Sun, J. Ortega, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 46 (4) (2007) 1120–1124.
- [40] Y. Shang, R. Chen, Energy Fuels 20 (5) (2006) 2149–2154.
- [41] Y. Shang, R. Chen, Energy Fuels 20 (5) (2006) 2142–2148.
- [42] G.Y. Moon, S.S. Lee, K.Y. Lee, S.H. Kim, K.H. Song, J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 14 (2008) 94–99.
- [43] U.B. Demirci, F. Garin, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 279 (1) (2008) 57-62.
- [44] G. Guella, C. Zanchetta, B. Patton, A. Miotello, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 17024–17033.
- [45] B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd. 468 (1-2) (2009) 493-498.
- [46] E.Y. Marrero-Alfonso, J.R. Gray, T.A. Davis, M.A. Matthews, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (2007) 4723-4730.
- [47] E.Y. Marrero-Alfonso, J.R. Gray, T.A. Davis, M.A. Matthews, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (2007) 4717–4722.
- [48] R. Paul, P. Buisson, N. Joseph, Ind. Eng. Chem. 44 (1952) 1006–1010.
- [49] K.S. Eom, K.W. Cho, H.S. Kwon, J. Power Sources 180 (2008) 484-490.
- [50] K.W. Cho, H.S. Kwon, Catal. Today 120 (2007) 298-304.
- [51] H. Dong, H. Yang, X. Ai, C. Cha, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 28 (2003) 1095-1100.
- [52] C. Wu, F. Wu, Y. Bai, B. Yi, H. Zhang, Mater. Lett. 59 (2005) 1748-1751.
- [53] S. Suda, Y.M. Sun, B.H. Liu, Y. Zhou, S. Morimitsu, K. Arai, Y. Zhou, N. Tsukamaoto, Y. Candra, Z.P. Li. Met. Mater. Korea 7 (2001) 73-75.
- [54] J.H. Park, P. Shakkthivel, H.J. Kim, M.K. Han, J.H. Jang, Y.R. Kim, H.S. Kim, Y.G. Shul, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 33 (2008) 1845–1852.
- [55] U.B. Demirci, F. Garin, J. Alloys Compd. 463 (2008) 107-111.
- [56] C. Wu, H. Zhang, B. Yi, Catal. Today 93-95 (2004) 477-483.
- [57] Y. Bai, C. Wu, F. Wu, B. Yi, Mater. Lett. 60 (2006) 2236-2239.
- [58] D. Xu, H. Zhang, W. Ye, Catal. Commun. 8 (2007) 1767-1771.
- [59] N. Patel, B. Patton, C. Zanchetta, R. Fernandes, G. Guella, A. Kale, A. Miotello, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 33 (2008) 287–292.
- [60] J.Z. Zhao, H. Ma, J. Chen, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (18) (2007) 4711-4716.
- [61] R. Pena-Alonso, A. Sicurelli, E. Callone, G. Carturan, R. Rajb, J. Power Sources 165 (2007) 315–323.
- [62] Y. Kojima, K. Suzuki, K. Fukumoto, M. Sasaki, T. Yamamoto, Y. Kawai, H. Hayashi, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 27 (2002) 1029–1034.
- [63] Y. Kojima, Y. Kawai, H. Nakanishi, S. Matsumoto, J. Power Sources 135 (2004) 36-41.
- [64] P. Krishnan, T. Yang, W. Lee, C. Kim, J. Power Sources 143 (2005) 17–23.
- [65] Z. Liu, B. Guo, S.H. Chan, E.H. Tang, L. Hong, J. Power Sources 176 (1) (2008) 306-311.
- [66] R.S. Liu, H.C. Lai, N.C. Bagkar, H.T. Kuo, H.M. Chen, J.F. Lee, H.J. Chung, S.M. Chang, B.J. Weng, J. Phys. Chem. B 112 (16) (2008) 4870–4875.
- [67] P. Krishnan, K.L. Hsueh, S.D. Yim, Appl. Catal. B 77 (2007) 206-214.
- [68] M. Zahmakiran, S. Ozkar, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 258 (2006) 95-103.
- [69] S.U. Jeong, E.A. Cho, S.W. Nam, I.H. Oh, U.H. Jung, S.H. Kima, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (2007) 1749–1754.
- [70] J.C. Walter, A. Zurawski, D. Montgomery, M. Thornburg, S. Revankar, J. Power Sources 179 (2008) 335–339.
- [71] B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li, L.L. Chen, J. Power Sources 180 (2008) 530-534.
- [72] Z.T. Xia, S.H. Chan, J. Power Sources 152 (2005) 46–49.
- [73] W. Ye, H. Zhang, D. Xu, L. Ma, B. Yi, J. Power Sources 164 (2007) 544–548.
- [74] V.I. Simagina, O.V. Netskina, O.V. Komova, G.V. Odegova, D.I. Kochubei, A.V. Ishchenko, Kinet. Catal. 49 (4) (2008) 568–573.
- [75] V.I. Simagina, P.A. Storozhenko, O.V. Netskina, O.V. Komova, G.V. Odegova, T.Yu. Samoilenko, A.G. Gentsler, Kinet. Catal. 48 (1) (2007) 168–175.
- [76] U.B. Demirci, F. Garin, Catal. Commun. 9 (2008) 1167-1172.

- [77] Y. Chen, H. Kim, Mater. Lett. 62 (2008) 1451-1454.
- [78] J.H. Kim, H. Lee, S.C. Han, H.S. Kim, M.S. Song, J.Y. Lee, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 29 (2004) 263–267.
- [79] J.H. Kim, K.T. Kim, Y.M. Kang, H.S. Kim, M.S. Song, Y.J. Lee, P.S. Lee, J.Y. Lee, J. Alloys Compd. 379 (2004) 222–227.
- [80] J. Lee, K.Y. Kong, C.R. Jung, E. Cho, S.P. Yoon, J. Han, T.G. Lee, S.W. Nam, Catal. Today 120 (2007) 305–310.
- [81] H.B. Dai, Y. Liang, P. Wang, H.M. Cheng, J. Power Sources 177 (1) (2008) 17–23.
- [82] P.P. Prosini, P. Gislon, J. Power Sources 161 (2006) 290–293.
- [83] D. Gervasio, S. Tasic, F. Zenhausern, J. Power Sources 149 (2005) 15-21.
- [84] S.J. Kim, J. Lee, K.Y. Kong, C.R. Jung, I.G. Min, S.Y. Lee, H.J. Kim, S.W. Nam, T.H. Lim, J. Power Sources 170 (2007) 412–418.
- [85] N. Patel, R. Fernandes, G. Guella, et al., J. Phys. Chem. C 112 (17) (2008) 6968-6976.
- [86] Y. Kojima, K. Suzuki, K. Fukumoto, Y. Kawai, M. Kimbara, H. Nakanishi, S. Matsumoto, J. Power Sources 125 (2004) 22–26.
- [87] B.S. Richardson, J.F. Birdwell, F.G. Pin, J.F. Jansen, R.F. Lind, J. Power Sources 145 (2005) 21–29.
- [88] Q. Zhang, G. Smith, Y. Wu, R. Mohring, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 31 (2006) 961-965.
- [89] Q. Zhang, G.M. Smith, Y. Wu, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (2007) 4731–4735.
- [90] Y. Kojima, Y. Kawai, M. Kimbara, H. Nakanishi, S. Matsumoto, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 29 (2004) 1213–1217.
- [91] Y. Kojima, K. Suzuki, Y. Kawai, J. Power Sources 155 (2006) 325-328.
- [92] Ö. Sahin, H. Dola, M. Özdemir, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 32 (2007) 2330-2336.

- [93] A. Pozio, M. De Francesco, G. Monteleone, R. Oronzio, S. Galli, C. D'Angelo, M. Marrucci, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 33 (2008) 51–56.
- [94] Z.P. Li, B.H. Liu, K. Arai, N. Morigasaki, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd. 356–357 (2003) 469–474.
- [95] Z.P. Li, N. Morigasaki, B.H. Liu, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd. 349 (2003) 232– 236.
- [96] Z.P. Li, B.H. Liu, N. Morigasaki, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd. 354 (2003) 243-247.
- [97] Y. Kojima, T. Haga, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 28 (2003) 989-993.
- [98] S. Suda, N. Morigasaki, Y. Iwase, Z.P. Li, J. Alloys Compd. 404-406 (2005) 643-647.
- [99] Z.P. Li, B.H. Liu, J.K. Zhu, N. Morigasaki, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd. 437 (2007) 311-316.
- [100] B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li, J.K. Zhu, N. Morigasaki, S. Suda, Energy Fuels 21 (3) (2007) 1707–1711.
- [101] B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li, N. Morigasaki, S. Suda, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 33 (2008) 1323-1328.
- [102] B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li, N. Morigasaki, S. Suda, Energy Fuels 22 (3) (2008) 1894-1896.
- [103] B.H. Liu, Z.P. Li, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd., doi:10.1016/j.jallcom.2008.06.040.
- [104] B.H. Liu, Z.P Li, S. Suda, J. Alloys Compd., doi:10.1016/j.jallcom.2008.06.114.
- [105] S. Özkar, M. Zahmakıran, J. Alloys Compd. 404–406 (2005) 728–731.
- [106] D.D. Wagman, W.H. Evans, V.B. Parker, G.H. Schumm, I. Halow, S.M. Bailey, K.L. Churney, R.L. Nuttall, The NBS Tables of Chemical Thermodynamic Properties, vol. 11, American Chemical Society and American Institute of Physics for National Bureau of Standards, 1982, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data.